

Hull, Jonathan (2020) *Investigating the effects of teacher leadership on the digital technology competence of teachers in a Scottish primary school.* [MEd]

Copyright © 2020 The Author

Copyright and moral rights for this work are retained by the author(s)

A copy can be downloaded for personal non-commercial research or study, without prior permission or charge

This work cannot be reproduced or quoted extensively from without first obtaining permission in writing from the author(s)

The content must not be changed in any way or sold commercially in any format or medium without the formal permission of the author

When referring to this work, full bibliographic details including the author, title, institution and date must be given

http://dissertations.gla.ac.uk/544/

Deposited: 25 July 2022

Enlighten Dissertations <u>http://endeavour.gla.ac.uk/</u> research-enlighten@glasgow.ac.uk



# Investigating the effects of teacher leadership on the digital technology competence of teachers in a Scottish primary school

Jonathan Hull

Dissertation submitted by Jonathan Hull BA (Hons), PGDE, in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Education.

University of Glasgow August 2020

# Abstract

This extended research proposal dissertation aims to focus on and examine the position of teacher leadership within a local authority in Scotland, and more specifically the role and impact of teacher leadership on the use of digital technology in learning and teaching activities. It will also take in to account the recent global coronavirus pandemic, which has served to magnify the importance of digital technologies in learning and teaching activities. The study gains its significance from the importance the Scottish Government has placed on the use of digital technologies in schools for learning and teaching activities through the publication of its strategy concerning the effective use of digital technology in schools, as well as the need for all schools to move to an online and remote method of delivery of learning activities during the recent global coronavirus pandemic.

The extended research proposal plans to focus on one school and will use a mixed-methods research approach to acquire data around the digital technology competence of teachers. In stage one, qualitative data will take the form of face-to-face interviews, participant observation sessions and field notes in a learning journal. Quantitative data will be gleaned from digital technology usage statistics taken from two online administration consoles. During stage two, interventions will then take place to include digital learning training sessions, team-teaching learning experiences and individual coaching sessions to increase teacher competence and confidence in using digital technology for learning and teaching activities. Further similar quantitative and qualitative data will be sought after the intervention in stage three to enable comparisons to be made and effectiveness of the interventions to be discussed.

It is hoped that the findings of this study will enable a detailed assessment on how teacher leadership and specialist teacher leaders in the field of digital technology can affect the use of such technology in learning and teaching activities in classrooms. Also, it hopes to define how teacher leadership might also continue to develop and maintain these skills in teaching staff as we embark on a 'new normal' way of teaching and learning taking in to account the health and safety measures that have been put in place as a result of the recent coronavirus pandemic.

# Acknowledgements

Throughout the writing of this dissertation for the degree of Master of Education, I have received a great deal of advice, counsel and support from staff at the School of Education at the University of Glasgow. I would like to thank them for their professionalism and help during my studies. Particular thanks go to Dr. Dong Nguyen, my dissertation supervisor, for his expertise and clear guidance during the latter part of the course.

In addition, I would like to thank my parents and grand-parents for their supportive words, encouragement and guidance as I have progressed through the course. I hope I have done you all proud.

I'd like to give special thanks to my very dear friend Chris Barron who has been there since day one, riding the ups and downs and being an invaluable support to me, not only with my studies, but also with everything else that has happened in the past few years. Thank you buddy, you'll never know how much I appreciate everything you do for me. Also to Katie Shearer, Chris' fiancée and fellow 2020 graduate – thank you for all your support, happiness and motivation. I have learned so much from you, not least how to be productive and get things done!

Finally to my son Callum, who has seen me chained to the laptop for hours on end with my head in countless books. Thank you for your patience and bringing me drinks and sweets just when I needed them. It's done – you can have your Dad back now!

# Abbreviations

BERA	British Education Research Association
CLPL	Continuous and Lifelong Professional Learning
GDPR	General Data Protection Regulation
GTCS	General Teaching Council for Scotland
ICT	Information and Communication Technology
PEF	Pupil Equity Fund
PLC	Professional Learning Community
SELFIE	Self-reflection on Effective Learning by fostering the use of Innovative Educational
	Technologies
SERA	Scottish Educational Research Association
SLM	Standards for Leadership and Management

# Contents

Abstract	2
Acknowledgements	3
Abbreviations	4
Introduction	6
Literature review	9
Policy context	9
Methods of search and review	12
Teacher leadership	13
Definition	13
Characteristics of Teacher Leadership	13
Influence Leadership	14
Distributed Leadership	15
Relational Leadership	16
Professional Development	17
Digital competence	18
Summary	20
Theory and Methodology	21
Theoretical Framework and Research Paradigm	21
Study Design	22
Validity and Reliability	23
Methods of Data Collection	24
Data Analysis	28
Ethical Considerations	29
'Do no harm'	30
Anonymity and Confidentiality	30
Handling and Storage of Data	31
Project Management	32
Conclusions and Recommendations	
Note	
List of References	37

# Introduction

Leadership within education can take multiple forms and lead to different models taken from many different theories. It is not a straightforward task to make sense of all of these models as there are multiple ways to classify and examine them (Simkins, 2005). One emerging form of leadership within educational establishments is the notion of 'teacher leadership'. Teacher leadership has been (and continues to be) one of the core leadership models in the area of educational management (Gümüş *et al.*, 2018). It is centrally concerned with relationships and connections amongst teachers in schools, and positively influences other teachers' instructional practice (Muijs and Harris, 2007:112, Katzenmeyer and Moller, 2001).

The use of digital technologies in an educational context has become more prevalent over the past decade (Scottish Government, 2016). The importance of these technologies in the workplace has encouraged schools to make them a central part of learning and teaching activities so that they prepare young people for the world of work (Higgins, Xiao and Katsipataki, 2012). Digital technology in education has the power to engage and inspire students in a multimodal way; it can provide support to those who find written work challenging and can also prepare them for future employment by developing new skills and abilities. In 2017, Scotland's digital sector was projected to be the fastestgrowing in the economy by 2024 – seeing a 38% growth for digital versus a 17.5% growth for the rest of the economy overall (Digital Scotland, 2019). While children are exposed to technology from birth, the experience levels greatly vary from child to child indicating that there is a lack of equity (Merchant, 2015). These varying levels can be linked to economic circumstances and also how digital devices are regarded in different families (Mayall, 2010). With the increased focus on equity in Scotland through educational guidance and the Pupil Equity Fund (PEF), schools are challenged to minimise these varied levels. Therefore, supporting the development of our pupils' digital technology skills will aid their progress into the world of work. This access and provision allow for a wealth of benefits to children's education such as their attitude towards education, their engagement in it and it provides the opportunity for work to be more active, challenging and differentiated (Hemenway, 2000:115).

The rationale for this proposal stems from the Scottish Government's digital learning and teaching strategy, 'Enhancing Learning and Teaching through the Use of Digital Technology' (Scottish Government, 2016). This policy document is discussed in more detail in the next section of this dissertation. The importance it places on the skills and confidence of educators in using digital technologies in the classroom for learning and teaching activities chimed with the activities being

undertaken by schools within the local authority in which the author works. This relationship, coupled with the role to which the author has been seconded, sparked their curiosity and allowed them to develop this research proposal as a way to understand how the relationship between teacher leadership and teacher digital competence might fit with these national priorities. All schools and early years settings have been able to develop their own approaches to teaching digital technology skills. Skilled teaching staff who have an interest in digital technologies are encouraged to share their skills and ideas with others in their clusters or authority-wide. The local authority has developed its own digital technology strategy in order to improve digital technology competence of staff and created a 'Teacher Leader, Digital Schools' role to provide support and guidance to schools on the best use of digital tools within the classroom and to raise digital awareness and promote the best practice and use of technology to enhance learning and teaching opportunities. During the coronavirus pandemic in early 2020, the skills and confidence of educators to use digital technologies for learning and teaching have had to increase and develop at an exponential pace.

This extended research proposal dissertation aims to, therefore, investigate the effects of teacher leadership on the digital competence of teachers in a Scottish primary school. The research questions that form this research proposal are:

- What is the effect of coaching and mentoring on the digital competence of primary school teachers in a Scottish primary school?
- How do these teachers view their own digital competency?

As this method of research involving human subjects which would have been a central part of this enquiry is now no longer possible, this extended proposal will now describe a *proposed* enquiry which investigates the effects of teacher leadership on digital competence as previously planned but also now take the opportunity to include data and discussion in the context of the global coronavirus pandemic. The presence of this virus caused widespread and immediate school closures and a move to full remote 'at-home' learning and teaching, causing many practitioners to have their digital competence challenged and the demand for guidance and leadership in this area to increase. As a result of this demand, using digital technologies for learning and teaching has taken on a renewed significance and importance in schools and as such, this extended research proposal has a central place in the field of how teacher leadership can affect practitioner digital competence during an unprecedented time in Scottish education. This extended research proposal also holds significance in the wider community as its results could have implications for local authorities to consider a teacher

leadership model to improve professional practice to positively impact the competency and professional learning of their practitioners. It is hoped that it makes a small and original contribution to the body of literature already available in this area.

This extended research proposal dissertation will follow a familiar structure. Firstly I have introduced the main themes of the research, set it against the current landscape in Scottish education and discussed its current relevance and importance which have been magnified due to the global coronavirus pandemic. I will then discuss relevant policies that affect the proposal and outline other relevant contextual information to aid understanding as to the importance of the research. Next, I will discuss and digest the findings of a rigorous and wide-reaching literature review and consider how this research proposal aims to build on this body of literature and identify any gaps in terms of current research. A discussion of the relevant theoretical framework and research paradigm will then take place, along with a description of the design of the study taking cognisance of its validity and reliability. The ethical approach of this study will then be delivered and examined before conclusions and considerations are then described and discussed.

# Literature review

This literature review has three aims: to place the extended research proposal in the context of relevant policies, to attempt to explore the many different definitions of teacher leadership and the diverse ways in which it manifests itself in schools and to introduce the more specific topic of teacher leadership in the context of teacher digital competence. There is also a section where the methods of search employed during this literature review are explained and discussed.

# Policy context

It is useful to use this part of the literature review to set the scene and the background to the extended research proposal for two reasons. Knowing the background and the context highlights the importance of the enquiry when the wider context of the use of digital technologies in schools is taken into account, and linking the research proposal to national and international policy, strategy and guidance affirms the emerging importance of the enquiry and the need for it to be brought about.

Children and young people today are growing up with digital technologies all around them. Schwab (2016) calls this the fourth industrial revolution describing the spread of digital technologies which is increasingly affecting all aspects of life. Education is emerging as another digital technology hotspot; technology is already impacting the way education is delivered and practitioners are very aware of the need for education to have a role to play in preparing young people for a world of work that will increasingly involve digital technologies. It's true to say that growing up in this digital age does not make 'digital natives' (Prensky, 2001) inherently competent and confident with digital technologies (European Commission, 2014). There are many challenges when it comes to including and integrating digital technologies in educational curricula. Schools are beginning to recognise the challenge is not only to ensure that young people develop the digital competencies needed but also to reap the benefits from the pedagogical use of technology (Cachia et al., 2010). There is also a noted skills gap in the world of work: many new jobs are based on specialised digital skills (Cedefop, 2016). Also, the challenge of inclusion and how to bridge the digital gap between those learners with basic skills and those who are more adept at using technologies in their learning is more current than ever during the global coronavirus pandemic. A failure to include digital skills in school education could widen existing gaps in society and further exclude some parts of the population (European Commission, 2017).

When describing the different levels of relevant strategy, guidance and policy it is prudent to start at a European level. The European Framework for the Digital Competence of Educators (Redecker, 2017) captures teacher digital competence as a significant factor in the pedagogical use of digital technologies in classrooms. Relationships between these competencies and teaching and learning practices are described and addressed in the European Framework for Digitally Competent Education Organisations (DigCompOrg, 2013). There is also a useful self-reflection tool, SELFIE: Self-reflection on Effective Learning by Fostering the use of Innovative Educational Technologies, (SELFIE | Education and Training, 2020), which helps schools to identify their strengths and weaknesses in using digital technologies in classrooms. These three frameworks act as a foundation for common ground and common language for countries to begin conversations and develop their own strategy and policy at national and local levels.

Moving to a national level in Scotland and more specifically in Scottish education, three main documents shape how digital technologies are accessed, how skills are taught and how the aforementioned considerations for the skills gap in the world of work and the issue of inclusion are addressed.

The first is the General Teaching Council for Scotland's (GTCS) Standards for Registration, by which all education practitioners in Scotland must abide. These standards reflect the importance of digital technology skills that practitioners should have to ensure they can use them to enhance education by enriching learning and teaching opportunities.

- Standard 2.1.4 states that 'Registered teachers have secure knowledge and understanding of current guidance on the use of digital technologies in schools and know how to use digital technologies competently to enhance teaching and learning'
- Standard 3.1.3 states that 'Registered teachers skilfully deploy a wide variety of innovative resources and teaching approaches, including digital technologies and, where appropriate, actively seeking outdoor learning opportunities'
- Standard 3.2.1 states that 'Registered teachers enable learners to make full use of well-chosen resources, including digital technologies to support teaching and learning' (General Teaching Council Scotland, 2012)

Moreover, the GTCS Standards for Career Long Professional Learning (GTCS, 2012) refer to 'demonstrating a critical understanding of digital technologies and how these can be used to support learning'. This goes a long way to affirming that these skills are not only desired but increasingly they are required for teaching professionals to have up to date knowledge on the latest tools and methods of teaching with digital technology. It is noted however that there are 'gaps between teaching standards, policy and curriculum documentation and the reality of teacher's own skills, knowledge, motivation and ability' (Lemon and Garvis, 2016).

The second document which shapes the curriculum in Scotland is Scotland's 'Curriculum for Excellence' (Scottish Government, 2006). Within its defined curricular areas, the experiences and outcomes under the 'Technologies' heading detail the skills and learning and teaching activities that children should experience in schools. It's useful to note that these Technologies Experiences and Outcomes were refreshed in March 2017 to maintain relevancy so that learners have the knowledge, understanding and skills in the technologies required to succeed in today's world. This underlines the changing nature of digital technologies within education and proves that policy and guidance changes to reflect the rapidly changing digital world in which we live.

The third is the Scottish Government's digital learning and teaching strategy, 'Enhancing Learning and Teaching through the Use of Digital Technology' (Scottish Government, 2016). This strategy ensures that digital technology skills are a central part of its school curriculum and therefore enable the future workforce to have the necessary digital skills. It sets out the key objectives required so that educators and learners can cover and experience all of the learning and teaching activities outlined in the Curriculum for Excellence. The strategy contains four key objectives:

- Develop the skills and confidence of educators in the appropriate and effective use of digital technology to support learning and teaching
- Improve access to digital technology for all learners
- Ensure that digital technology is a central consideration in all areas of curriculum and assessment delivery
- Empower leaders of change to drive innovation and investment in digital technology for learning and teaching. (Scottish Government, 2016)

It is useful to note here that the first objective concerns the development of skills and confidence in educators and goes on to indicate the central role that local authorities have in this strategy: local authorities should develop a local strategy to provide their educators with a range of Continuous and Lifelong Professional Learning (CLPL) opportunities and provide an arena to share experiences and information to support the professional development of their educators (Scottish Government, 2016).

Moving then to a local strategy, the local authority in which the author works has produced its own 'Digital Learning and Teaching Strategy' (East Renfrewshire Council, 2018) in which it is interesting to note that the same four key objectives are summarised and planned for in increasingly local detail. These details, specifically under the first objective, reference the situation surrounding the skills and confidence of the teaching staff and how this will be addressed through a series of actions and associated impacts. We have now journeyed from international strategy and policy through to grassroots actions and impacts and set the scene for the position of this extended research proposal. It is here that the role the author currently fulfils as a secondment is grounded and where this research proposal begins.

## Methods of search and review

Firstly, it is useful to describe the methods of search and review the author has utilised in this literature review section. At first, the author used a broad search term and by using a systematic process, the author employed a general internet search using the phrase 'teacher leadership' as a base to gain an overview of the topic and to begin to understand the current thinking around it. The author identified general themes and common terms from these initial search results. The broad 'teacher leadership' theme was then narrowed down in to sub topics. These search terms - leadership and management, distributed leadership, relational leadership, leadership for learning and teacher leadership digital technology allowed the author to home in on literature that was more relevant to the research. These three-hundred or so pieces of literature concerned themselves with how teachers can be involved in leadership tasks and how teacher leadership can be a driver for improved learning opportunities in the classroom. Adding the term 'digital technology' showed that some current research had already been undertaken around this topic and that the idea of digital technology competence amongst staff was becoming more prevalent. Further inspection of these results showed how the roles of teacher leaders in schools can influence this competence and the associated use of digital technologies in learning and teaching. It was felt that the search had now moved from a general search to more defined terms which would yield relevant and targeted literature to review further. The author then began to think more about the current research more specifically, and as such, 'competency' was added to the search term. This yielded around twenty relevant results and therefore a gap was able to be identified in current research, as there were only very few pieces of literature concerning this sub-topic. Being more specific again, and to satisfy the author's professional curiosity, the search term 'coronavirus' was added to ascertain whether any relevant studies or peer-reviewed journal articles had been published that specifically dealt with teacher leadership in the context of the coronavirus outbreak.

All of these searches were first conducted initially in Google Scholar. Furthermore, specific searches were then carried out using EBSCOhost and ProQuest Academic online databases. These articles were uploaded to 'Mendeley' which acted as a digital locker for all the articles in which the author was interested. Digital notes on key themes and arguments were made directly on these articles in a digital

12

format. The author was then able to group pieces of literature by theme to begin to create sets of literature that could then be analysed and reacted to in this current research.

# **Teacher leadership**

This following section aims to rigorously inspect and analyse documented thinking around teacher leadership as a broad topic. It will then focus on relevant literature to construct a current picture of teacher leadership in the context of digital technology use in the classroom, teacher competence in using these technologies, and how teachers have looked to leadership in this area during the global coronavirus pandemic during 2020.

## Definition

The search for a definitive definition of 'teacher leadership' leads us to find varying and different ideas of what a concrete definition might look like. If we start by engaging with official policy documentation published in Scotland, there is an expectation that teacher leaders are 'highly effective' and show 'quality' in their practice (Donaldson, 2011). Taking a view from literature published in the early 2000s, York-Barr and Duke (2004) affirm that there is little research to be found that can quantify what these desired qualities look like. They suggest that the concept of teacher leadership has grown momentum in recent years (writing in 2004) and as such is now increasingly evident in many texts and policies concerning the practice of educational improvement. As suggested by Murphy (2005:3), teacher leadership is the action of 'teachers assuming greater leadership of the organisations in which they work.' In the past, Murphy (2005) suggests that teachers were only seen to be leaders in their own classrooms. Johnson (1989) agrees with this assertion that at that time, teacher leadership was only seen to be prevalent in classrooms, the teachers being the leaders only in their own rooms - 'their formal influence rarely extends beyond that' (Johnson, 1989:105).

## Characteristics of Teacher Leadership

Turning to more recent literature and studies, it is true to say that there is a broad consensus that the key characteristics of teacher leadership are still the same, noting that in current years there is a realisation that teacher leadership can, and does, 'occurs within and outside classrooms to influence school-wide instructional practice' (Cooper *et al*, 2016:87). Teachers are now becoming involved in matters pertaining to the whole school, not just their classroom, and more professional learning is now happening through collaborative projects outside the classroom, 'changing the nature of teacher

professionalism' (Oon, Chew and Andrews, 2010). Those involved in these projects, teacher leaders, provide direction and can influence their fellow teachers to improve learning and teaching outcomes (Katzenmeyer and Moller, 2009). Frost (2012) and Kessels (2012) describe this influence as being possible through formal leadership positions or roles within a school or embedded through the school's culture where informal leadership recognises the talents of the teaching staff to exercise leadership as part of their role for the good of the whole school community. Harris et al., (2017) affirms that teachers can be instigators of change at both school and system levels and that this notion has been the subject of much recent analysis and discussion. This change could come about through the teachers being a part of or benefitting from an action research project in the school. Some research on the impact of these projects was carried out by Smeets and Ponte (2009) and they found that the impact of the action research project grew fast around the establishment, and likened this to 'a spreading oil slick in the school' (Smeets and Ponte, 2009). This view chimes with the author's personal experiences of leading a project in a school and seeing the impact of the research and the outcomes permeate all areas of teaching and learning in the school. In their review of the empirical research on the subject of teacher leadership, Nguyen, Harris and Ng, (2019), defined four hallmarks of teacher leadership: teacher leadership is a process of influence; has a basis of trust and reciprocal collaboration; operates both within and out with the classroom and aims to improve teaching and learning along with school effectiveness (Nguyen, Harris and Ng, 2019).

It is therefore clear to see that could still be some ambiguity around the term 'teacher leadership' referring to teachers leading within their own classrooms, out with them, or indeed leading in other ways in their educational settings. Harris (2005) suggested, even 15 years ago, that the sheer volume of literature around the subject shows how important the subject is becoming in school culture. (Katzenmeyer and Moller, 2001:82) asserts that teacher leadership is a new type of leadership while Crowther *et al.*, (2002:27) suggests that the notion of teacher leadership should be used to 'recognise the central place of teachers' in a school environment.

#### Influence Leadership

At this stage, it is prudent to now explore the notion of this kind of 'influence leadership' as opposed to the more traditional management concept. Kerrigan (2018) suggests that, for a school to run effectively, leadership and management must be appreciated as two distinctive yet, complementary systems of action. 'Leadership' involves setting a new direction for a group which has followers, whereas 'management' involves controlling and directing a group according to pre-established values or norms (Kerrigan, 2018). Kajitani (2015) asserts that leaders focus on a strategic journey and vision, inspiring others despite the day-to-day challenges and demands that are placed upon them. According to Fitzgerald and Gunter (2008), managers concern themselves with day-to-day activities such as staffing, planning, controlling and directing. Managers tend to focus on current issues, leaving little time to think about a strategic vision (Fitzgerald and Gunter, 2008). These definitions could lead to the conclusion that managers are viewed negatively, since their remit is described as controlling, or shortsighted. It is true to say that professionals may be more comfortable or inclined to favour one style or the other, but as teaching is a lifelong profession and one where the skills of manager and leader are closely sited, critical reflection requires a practitioner to question, review and change existing practice and pedagogies (Richards, 1991; Scales, 2013; Carroll and McCulloch, 2014). 'The Standards for Leadership and Management' (SLM) clearly show that skills in both areas are required if practitioners are to meet current Scottish demands (GTCS, 2012). Therefore, practitioners should develop an inclusive vision to show expertise in both managerial and leadership contexts (Deschamps, 2005; McCartney and Campbell, 2006).

#### **Distributed Leadership**

The concept of 'distributed leadership' could be seen as a way to bridge the gap between leadership and management in schools. Wasley (1991) affirms that this could give people in a school 'the opportunity to contribute in meaningful ways'. Distributed leadership has become more popular and is now a desired form of leadership in schools in the United Kingdom (Harris, 2005; Martin, 2011; Spillane, 2005) by replacing the usual hierarchy and bureaucracy (Harrison and Lembeck, 1996) with a 'collaborative individualism' whereby professionals can work in both a collaborative and individual capacity (Harris, 2005:203). It is said by Ogawa and Bossert (1995) that leadership is embedded in the relationships that exist in a particular educational setting, rather than in particular roles, which confirms the more recent view of Anderson (2004), Smith et al., (2017) and Snoek et al., (2017) referring to teacher leadership as an influence rather than a role or formal authority. Martin (2011) counters this enthusiasm by expressing some points that should be taken in to account when thinking about this distributed leadership model in schools. A distinction should be sought between leadership being distributed and the delegation of tasks, as the two concepts differ and 'there is a tangible sense that schools allocate more significance to external pressures rather than driving forward projects fuelled by internal passion and enthusiasm' (Martin, 2011). Also, demotivating factors such as there being no recognition in either substantive job title or remuneration for the leadership tasks undertaken could lead to practitioners feeling undervalued, underappreciated and less likely to take on these teacher leadership roles in the future (McLean, 2003; Harris, 2005). All of this combined could lead practitioners to view the distributed leadership model as being a way to 'dress up' tasks and responsibilities to ensure that the workload of substantive leaders is lightened (Martin, 2011).

#### **Relational Leadership**

The importance and relevancy of the first research question in this enquiry - what is the effect of coaching and mentoring on the digital competence of primary school teachers in a Scottish primary school? – will be discussed here.

For coaching and mentoring of school staff by teacher leaders to be effective, the cultural architecture of a school and the staff working within it is very important when it comes to developing future teacher leaders (Muijs and Harris, 2006; Kajitani, 2015). It is only when these relationships within a school are fostered in a positive and nurturing way that true teacher leadership can be seen to be evident in a setting (Collinson, 2012; Harris, 2005; Martin, 2011; Muijs and Harris, 2006). It is true to say, and evident from the author's own experience, that time and effort must be committed to ensuring that these positive relationships last and are built upon throughout the academic year (Bryk and Schneider, 2003; Forlin and Cooper, 2013; GTCS, 2012; Kyriacou, 1991). This "relational trust" (Bryk and Schneider, 2003) allows all practitioners to display the qualities of respect, integrity and competence in all they do, and by doing so, further strengthening relationships as being pivotal to the culture of a school (Hattie, 2012). This "interpersonal leadership" (Bush, 2003: 79) shows a further link to collegiality and collaboration, as strong relational leadership is required for collaborative tasks to be successfully completed (Bush, 2003).

However, it is argued that relational leadership is only successful if all practitioners understand the importance of relationships in a setting. Durden (2011) describes situations where lack of reciprocal respect from practitioners unaware of this importance lessen the impact that relational leadership can have in an establishment. There can be a hesitancy to follow a colleague in a leadership role if the mutual relationship has been compromised or if the follower feels undervalued (Harris, 2005; Kelly, 2016). "Esteem, control and affiliation" (Northouse, 2015) are issues of incompatible differences between colleagues, often referred to as a "personality clash" (Northouse, 2015:229). Also, forming these relationships that are demanded of establishments where relational leadership is expected is time-consuming and a slow process. Inevitably, time is allocated to pressing and immediate issues day-to-day and as such, time for relationship building is limited (Hart, 2000; McCulloch, 2014). Hattie (2017: 23) suggests that there should be no confusion between "being busy and being a good teacher", and Pollard (2008) agrees with the assertion that developing these important relationships and reflecting upon them can be overlooked due to time constraints. There must be a fundamental commitment to learning from all parts of the education system (MacBeath and Mortimore, 2001; Stoll et al., 2006). Learning environments where all pupils and indeed staff are motivated to learn is a key aspiration of many leadership teams (Martin, 2011). The teaching profession, through the GTCS Standards for Career-Long Professional Learning, (GTCS, 2012) expects a culture of engaging with

theory as well as reflection (Groundwater-Smith and Mockler, 2007; Schön, 1984). However, there is a converse view: Murray (1992) and latterly Hopkins (2008) put forward their view that a teacher's function is to teach, and therefore engaging in research should not be allowed to interfere with that fundamental function. Martin (2011) adds that 'practitioners and school leaders must show a willingness to partake in these activities, as well as maintaining high standards of teaching in their classrooms'.

#### **Professional Development**

It is at this point that the focus of the literature review begins to sharpen more specifically on the topic of teacher leadership in the context of its impact on teaching and learning and teacher digital competence.

As we begin to focus in on available literature around teacher digital competence before describing more details about this research proposal, it is encouraging to note the work of Yost, Vogel and Liang (2009) and their results which indicate that a teacher leader project is a viable strategy to improve teaching skills of new and experienced teachers. It is at this juncture that the importance of the roles and practices of teacher leaders in the professional development of other teachers within and across schools is discussed. The second research question - how do these teachers view their digital competency? - becomes important during this discussion. Following a study of the International Teacher Leadership project, Frost, (2012), declares that teachers can lead innovation, build professional knowledge and influence colleagues and practice in their schools if they have appropriate support structures and strategies. Concluding their findings from their recent review of research on the relationship between school leadership and teacher professional learning, Hallinger and Kulophas (2019) assert that teacher learning comes from multiple sources – from principals to shared leadership approaches such as distributed, collaborative and teacher leadership. Professional Learning Communities (PLCs) are another method that can be used to build capacity for sustained improvement, ensuring motivation, skills, support infrastructure and positive experiences are fostered and cared for (Stoll et al., 2006). Nguyen and Ng conducted a study of teacher collaboration in primary schools in Singapore and concluded that teacher leaders were critical to initiating and engaging colleagues in professional learning activities (Nguyen and Ng, 2020). Collinson (2012) assures us that teacher leaders can levy influence on colleagues by sharing innovative ideas and resources to support these studies mentioned here. Nguyen and Ng (2020) also agree that leadership and peer support were seen as important for teachers leading professional learning, and as will be discussed later, these qualities become more important during a global coronavirus pandemic.

## **Digital competence**

As described earlier in this chapter, teacher leadership in the context of digital technology competence is a new theme and a young body of research, judging by the small number of articles that were found thorough the search criteria that have been employed for this literature review. Using the search term 'digital literacy' to find more articles yielded studies that took place in the late nineties and early 2000s. This highlights an important point when we begin to think about digital literacy and digital competence. Digital literacy first emerged in 1997, when Gilster introduced the term as 'a set of skills to access the internet, find, manage and edit digital information; join in communications, and otherwise engage with an online information and communication network' (Gilster, 1997:220). As new technologies and ways of accessing information have evolved in modern life, this definition has been contested as digital technologies now permeate our lives in so many different ways. Digital competence has come about as a term that recognises more than just the skills-focused digital literacy defines. Janssen et al., (2013) adds 'particular knowledge and attitudes regarding legal and ethical aspects, privacy and security, as well as understanding the role of ICT in society and a balanced attitude towards technology' to define the wider notion of digital competence. A useful definition for 'digital competence' specifically for teachers is offered by Krumsvik (2007:68): 'digital competence is the teacher's ability to use ICT with a good pedagogical-didactic ICT understanding and to be aware of how this might impact the learning strategies and educational formation of pupils'. If we were to unpack this definition, we would see that it shows that teachers are required to make decisions about what kind of digital tools would be best utilised in an episode of learning, how they should be integrated, and why they should be used. Pettersson (2018:1) found that digital competence should not be viewed in isolation, but instead be 'regarded as an organizational task, influenced and driven by several contextual factors embedded within and across a wider school organization'. Teachers should be enabled to investigate and confidently explore what is new and relevant in terms of digital technology and develop methods so that they can include this digital competence in their teaching (Mannila, Nordén and Pears, 2018). Choi et al., (2018) suggests that there is also a link between teachers' individual backgrounds, their own internet use and psychological characteristics such as 'internet anxiety and self-efficacy' (Choi et al., 2018:1) and that this inherent thought process has a great effect on their use of digital technologies in classrooms. Indeed a teacher's own confidence with digital technology can have an impact on students' learning in ICT areas (Bingimlas, 2009). The study by Moltudal et al., (2019) suggests that teacher digital competence and their classroom management abilities during technology lessons are closely linked and that many professionals are put off from using technology in classrooms for fear of being unable to manage learning events successfully. There is also the ever-present issue of Selinger's (2001) tension between teaching about ICT and teaching

through ICT. Even though this issue was detailed by Selinger nearly twenty years ago, when digital technologies were referred to as ICT (Information and Communication Technology), the issue still rings true today. As mentioned already when talking about policy, Scotland's Curriculum for Excellence describes the teaching of digital technology skills to be discreet and embedded in subject teaching, rather than skills being taught in a standalone way. This is where teacher leadership is critical, as without this kind of innovation, changes are often small scale, non-sustainable and often only use digital technologies to replace existing practices in schools (Glover et al., 2016). Hattie (2012) suggests that sustainable implementation of new pedagogical methods is difficult, especially if the initial champion is no longer in place, which adds to the argument that effective, distributed and relational leadership in schools, leading to the already mentioned 'oil slick' effect (Smeets and Ponte, 2009) is needed to drive real pedagogical change. Digital technology integration in teaching practice is challenging and there needs to be an understanding of the technology on offer, for example, its affordances and constraints (Koehler and Mishra, 2009). Teachers can develop these skills and awareness by themselves, using online tutorials, but to make large scale effective use of digital technologies and associated teaching methods, there needs to be a way found to enable the dissemination of this information in an easily accessible way. Beycioglu and Kandukci (2014) and Islam and Grönlund (2016) suggest that principal and indeed teacher leadership has been shown to have a direct and lasting impact on the success of such initiatives. This so-called 'second-order' change (Marzano et al., 2005) is innovation-driven and requires a fundamental change from current practice. Second-order barriers are intrinsic and include beliefs about current classroom practices and their digitalisation. Thinking about the technology itself and taking this in isolation from teacher learning, it should be noted during the pandemic and the closure of academic settings, there have been high-level discussions surrounding the negative aspects of closure, and the huge investments and high trust that technology is the only answer to learning when educational establishments were closed (Bozkurt and Sharma, 2020). 'We set our hopes on technology, hoping that it will save education and cure all the problems' (Weller, 2020). It should be remembered that technology is a tool, and the right approach should not be learning from technology but learning with technology (Bozkurt and Sharma, 2020).

This notion of second-order change has come about more quickly than anticipated in educational establishments due to the coronavirus pandemic in 2020. Governments around the world closed all educational settings due to the virus and made the strategic decision to transition to remote learning. It is reported that more than 1.5 billion learners of all ages from around the globe are affected due to school and university closures owing to the COVID-19 outbreak (UNESCO, 2020; UNICEF, 2020). The affected number of students equals around 90% of the world's enrolled students (UNESCO, 2020).

This required immediate and swift transformative practice to move to online delivery of learning, which would require radical changes in attitude, values and beliefs (Heifetz and Laurie, 2001). Academic leaders must use a new toolbox of intellectual stimulation, influence and inspiration while providing essential training, support and resources to staff suddenly immersed in online teaching (Fernandez and Shaw, 2020). This kind of influential teacher leadership is therefore essential and vital in this situation, so that academic leaders capable of leveraging these types of skills and talents, by using a distributed leadership style, will allow establishments to implement remote learning successfully (Fernandez and Shaw, 2020).

# Summary

As can be gleaned from this comprehensive literature review, there are policies and strategies in place that direct governments and local authorities to the importance of embedding the use of digital technologies in teaching and learning activities. Some of the guidance and the strategies include not only what should be included, but also how this could be done through using teacher leadership as a vehicle to ensuring best practice is employed in all settings.

Teacher leadership is a term that is widely known, but hard to define since it can be different in many different contexts. It is understood and agreed that this kind of leadership can be seen within classrooms, out with them and also in local authority contexts. There is value in this form of leadership, and in all of its various iterations.

Turning to teacher leadership in a digital competence sphere, linking the digital strategies with how it manifests itself in schools and other educational establishments, there is some general research and literature. The coronavirus pandemic has highlighted the need for teacher leaders in the context of supporting teachers in the 'new normal' of online and remote learning practices.

It is hoped therefore that this research proposal goes some way to add to this body of literature, linking strategy with the practical teacher leadership that is required to support teaching staff in using digital technology and improving their competence with these tools.

# Theory and Methodology

## Theoretical Framework and Research Paradigm

Clarke and Visser (2018) affirm that it 'can be a problematic endeavour and can cause relatively inexperienced researchers angst when trying to decipher the various methodologies and paradigms.' Even more experienced researchers can find articulating exactly what the concepts behind the paradigms and methodologies are challenging (Kivunja and Kuyini, 2017). Due to these potential pitfalls, researchers can often lose sight of their research methodology and it is important, therefore, to have a sound understanding of the various approaches that could be adopted and to use this knowledge to select a paradigm for the research outline (Xinping, 2002).

There are three important notions that should be defined to aid understanding: the notions of 'research paradigm', 'methodology' and 'method'. Mertens (2014:8) asserts that a research paradigm refers to 'certain philosophical assumptions that guide and direct thinking and action'. 'Methodology can be defined as a plan of action that is used when employing certain research methods, and these 'methods' referto the specific vehicles of collecting data to be analysed later.

Candy (1989) helpfully suggests that although there are a large number of research paradigms, that they could be grouped into three broad headings: positivist, interpretivist and critical. A fourth general heading was put forward by Tashakkori and Teddlie (2003) - the 'pragmatic' paradigm - which includes and joins together aspects of the positivist, interpretivist and critical headings. It enables researchers to combine aspects of different approaches which, if used effectively, can mitigate the potential weaknesses associated with any single approach (Onwuegbuzie and Leech, 2005). Confirming this, Creswell and Creswell (2017) describes four major research paradigms: pragmatism, interpretivism, post-positivism and critical theory. Traditional attitudes towards unilateral methodologies, for some, have shifted in recent times, with it being increasingly acceptable to combine methodologies (Hammersley and Atkinson, 2007; Clarke and Visser, 2018). Pragmatism is linked closely with being practical and suggesting answers that work in a context, rather than discerning the absolute truth of a matter (Wahyuni, 2012). According to Pansiri (2005) and Cresswell and Cresswell (2017), it is question focused and affords the researcher a range of possibilities when conducting their research. It could be gleaned that for this reason, pragmatism has been found to the most commonly used approach for qualitative research in the field of education (Caelli et al, 2003).

It is useful to now try to define each of these approaches, before selecting the most appropriate one for this study. The pragmatic approach, closely linked to Dewey's (1933) 'theory of knowing', concerns itself with empirical testing and quantitative methods holding within it this belief that its findings are

true (Carroll, 2018; Kock et al., 2017). Focusing on the research problem, it calls for various methods of data collection and analysis. The interpretivist approach can be seen to be qualitative and subjective in nature. This approach allows the researcher to view the world through the eyes of the participant, giving people a voice (Carroll, 2018; Thanh and Thanh, 2015). It is interested in 'investigating the processes of interactions' through their experiences (Creswell and Creswell, 2017). These first two approaches have been seen to form a perceived divide, according to Leech and Onwuegbuzie (2007), which, according to them, could potentially be counterproductive. Madey, (1982) asserts that the post-positivist approach encompasses both of these methods, allowing the researcher to be flexible when choosing their data collection methods in order to validate their findings and potentially help to heal this divide. Assuming that 'knowledge can be generated through testing propositions or hypotheses' (Willis, 2007) it is based on observing and measuring 'objective reality' (Creswell and Creswell, 2017). Critical theory (Guba and Lincoln, 2005) emerged from other paradigms not addressing 'marginalised individuals in our society or issues of power and social justices, discrimination and oppression' (Creswell and Creswell, 2017). It possesses the hallmarks of a transformative paradigm in that it encourages investigation of the lives and experiences of marginalised groups (Mertens, 2014).

It follows that a pragmatic approach would best suit this type of study due to its practical nature. This approach also allows for the combination of several approaches while being practice-orientated (Caelli *et al.,* 2003; Carroll, 2018). There is a well-founded association between the pragmatic research paradigm and mixed-method approaches, however, the pragmatic approach emphasises the way to conduct research rather than just the 'how-to issues of research' (Morgan, 2014:46). Some researchers assume that using a mixed-method strategy is better by definition than a singular approach. Using multiple data types, however, won't add to the legitimacy of results unless 'theoretical logic is maintained' (Mason, 2006:10). It is therefore logical that this study will employ a mixed-methods research approach to data gathering. This method of data gathering will allow a variety of useful information and data to be gathered to build up a complete picture of the research problem and the way the intervention has been received.

# Study Design

The study has been designed to be carried out in three sequential stages, each one containing appropriate methods of data collection and associated data analysis phases. These phases (within the three stages) are detailed below under the appropriate sub-headings.

In **stage one**, qualitative data collection will take the form of face-to-face interviews, participant observation sessions and field notes in a learning journal. Quantitative data will be gleaned from digital technology usage statistics taken from two online administration consoles. During **stage two**, interventions will then take place to include digital learning training sessions, team-teaching learning experiences and individual coaching sessions to increase teacher competence and confidence in using digital technology for learning and teaching activities. Further similar quantitative and qualitative data will be sought after the intervention in **stage three** to enable comparisons to be made and effectiveness of the interventions to be discussed. The outcomes of this discussion will then form a body of data whereby the answers to the research questions can begin to be highlighted.

#### Validity and Reliability

According to Braun and Clarke, (2013), the term 'validity', and more specifically 'construct validity' refers to the data collection methods of a given study measuring what they aim to measure. Methodological triangulation will be used to validate the findings that are gleaned from the qualitative and quantitative data. It will aid the researcher to complement and supplement the findings from the qualitative data with further numerical usage data. Methodological triangulation employs multiple methods to study a single problem (Hastings, 2012). This notion 'has been found to be beneficial in providing confirmation of findings, more comprehensive data, increased validity and enhanced understanding' (Bekhet et al, 2012: 40). This type of triangulation may take the 'within-methods' form, where multiple qualitative or multiple quantitative approaches are used, or it could also take the 'between-methods' form, where both quantitative and qualitative approaches are used (Hastings, 2012). Within-methods triangulation has been criticized as a weaker strategy, as only one method of data collection is used. This does not, therefore, compensate for the limitations of the particular paradigm that has been chosen (Hastings, 2012). On the other hand, between-methods triangulation offers the researcher the chance to mitigate biases that appear in one research approach by including other sources of data (Flick, 2012). This study will attempt to harness the strengths of different data types to produce a comprehensive view of the intervention (Carroll, 2018; Drouin et al., 2015). It should also aid in the 'completeness of description, and the accuracy and sensitivity of interpretation' (McDonough and McDonough, 1997:232). As can be gleaned when reading on, this research will take the form of a partially mixed sequential dominant status design (P4) (Leech and Onwuegbuzie, 2007:271) where the qualitative data is given more weight.

To carry out the data gathering strategies that are outlined in the next section, the method of 'sampling' will be employed to create a data set. This can be challenging, as determining a suitable sample size brings with it some considerations. Olejnik (1984) describes these as 'criterion for

statistical significance', 'level of statistical power', 'statistical analysis strategy', and the 'size of an effect judged to be meaningful.' When thinking about sample size, researchers have to be mindful of significant time implications associated with gathering and analysing collected data. Therefore a large sample size could limit in-depth analysis and result in conclusions that could be seen to be superficial (Sandelowski, 1995). It is for these reasons that have been discussed that the research proposal will include five primary school teachers from a small primary school within a local authority in Scotland. Five teachers is a manageable number and as they all teach in one primary school, there will be consistency in experiences and exposure to digital technology. It should be borne in mind that this type of teacher-led research is contextualised in nature and there is always the question of whether the findings from this kind of research could be generalised to a wider stage (Noble and Smith, 2005). Teacher-led research could identify findings that may be localised and only relevant to that particular context (Murray, 1992; Groundwater-Smith and Dadds, 2004). It is therefore prudent, when analysing the results of the research, that the question of whether the research would have the same outcomes if it were carried out in another location, school or indeed local authority. The reliability of data is an important consideration and broadly refers to receiving the same results if the study was conducted with another participant group (Yardley, 2008). It may also be the case that the results could be different if the research were to be carried out in a different school within the same local authority. There is also the issue of bias when carrying out this kind of teacher-led research (Kukull and Ganguli, 2012). The mitigations that this research will employ to counter this are described later in this chapter. Finally, the issue of generalisability or the 'horizontal extension' of results should be mentioned. Braun and Clarke, (2013), refers to this notion of 'generalisability' in the context of a study's results as to whether the results could be applied to a wider population. It is the author's view that some of the results of this study, given that it is to be carried out in one primary school with a small sample size, could be generalised across other schools in the same local authority, but caution should be noted about this as the results will rely heavily on individual teacher perception and the accessibility of digital technology which varies greatly across schools within the local authority.

#### Methods of Data Collection

In this section, three methods of data collection will be described which are proposed to be employed in this research paper, along with their advantages and associated disadvantages. The methods for collecting qualitative data will be participant interviews and field observations. The methods of collecting quantitative data will concern data taken from two online user administration portals. I propose to conduct face-to-face, audio-recorded interviews with the mentioned five primary school teachers in a small primary school within a local authority. These interviews will be conducted at the beginning of the research (stage one), and again at the end of the proposed five to seven-week research period (stage three). I envisage each interview to last no longer than one hour so that the data collected is manageable to process and analyse. This method has been chosen as there are advantages to this qualitative research approach: Creswell and Creswell (2017) suggest that 'participants can provide historical information' and that questioning can be adapted depending on the answers the participant gives to previous questions. This approach is more suited to this study than a simple questionnaire technique for this very reason. Questionnaires could be anonymised and this could attract more honest and full feedback as the researcher would not know who has given certain answers. Newby (2014) suggests that this perceived weakness of questionnaires produces data that can be a superficial assessment of a very complex construct. It is hoped that the face-to-face interviews will reveal more detailed data than a generic and anonymised online questionnaire would and that the interviewer could explore any emerging comments or themes that are brought up by the interviewee. There are, however, disadvantages to this qualitative research approach. Bias can be seen to be a cause of invalidity in interview situations, and is defined by Lansing et al., (1961:120/1) as 'a systematic or persistent tendency to make errors in the same direction, that is, to overstate or understate the true value of an attribute.' Creswell and Creswell (2017) agrees by suggesting that a 'researcher's presence may bias responses' and that responses could be 'filtered through the views of interviewees.' Thinking about how this could be overcome in this study, Silverman (1993) suggests a structured interview can address reliability, and open-ended questions allow for participants to demonstrate their unique view of the research problem. I will therefore develop interview themes to include questions around teacher perspectives and opinions on using digital technology in teaching and learning, current methods being used and factors enabling and hindering the use of digital technologies in classrooms.

Observations play a key role in educational research as it records the participants' behaviour and what they actually do, rather than what they might say or write (Menter *et al.*, 2011). These observations can hold a structure, where the observer has a list of criteria to look out for, or it can be unstructured and open-ended where no criteria are pre-defined (Dudovskiy, 2016). Bias can occur within these observations as they are subjective in nature and the conclusions that might be drawn from them could be filtered by the observer's own thoughts and feelings (Elton-Chalcraft *et al*, 2008). A suggested way to minimise this bias and to record the interactions that are being observed is through the use of video, however, the presence of a video camera could in itself affect the interactions of the

participants being observed (Elton-Chalcraft *et al*, 2008). It can be said that the mere presence of a teacher can influence their reactions, therefore, considering how and where you will observe from are important considerations (Elton-Chalcraft *et al.*, 2008; Sharp, 2012). The research project proposes recording thoughts and key themes in a learning journal that come about during the interventions. Employing a learning journal in this way promotes reflection and helps the user draw connections between data gathered (Bisman, 2010; Boudah, 2011). I intend to collect observation data, reflective in nature, while training sessions are taking place and also during teach-teaching lessons and sessions which are planned to take place during the second phase. When analysing this data, it will be helpful to categorise the data gathered in to broad themes. To be specific, the participant observation sessions aim to collect data around the nature of digital technology use post-intervention and assess the confidence of the participants. This is planned to be done through observation of the use of confident oral language and use of confident body language. This qualitative data will be included in the thematic analysis.

The quantitative data to be collected in stages one and three of this research will be gathered from two online sources. Source one is Education Scotland's Glow portal. This portal is used by educators and learners in Scotland to access Microsoft 365 tools and the Google Suite for Education set of tools. All educators and learners have a login for this service issued by their school. Authorised administrators within each local authority have access to advanced analytics and user data which is useful to see how the different services within Glow are being accessed by schools. I will be able to access school user data to include the number of login sessions, the number of unique users logging in and the number of times individual apps within the portal have been accessed. This information will be able to give a picture of the usage of various tools and help to allow for comparisons in different time frames.

Source two is the Google Admin Console. Much like the Glow admin console, the Google console gives more detail on usage statistics for Google tools such as Google Docs and Google Classroom. It also serves as the hub for managing and administering the local authority's fleet of Chromebooks. The information that both of these systems collects is very similar in nature and therefore a direct comparison will be able to be made. Frees and Miller (2013) suggests that a simplistic way to analyse and present the data should be chosen as the information is not complex in nature. Johnson and Onwuegbuzie (2004) describes this quantitative data collection method can add precision to the words and opinions gathered from face-to-face interviews, and it is for this reason that this method features in this research proposal. This use of qualitative and quantitative data is able to give strong evidence

in order to conclude and debate the findings of this research through corroborating and converging the evidence gathered.

It should be noted here that since educational establishments closed due to the global coronavirus pandemic, there was an immediate need for learning to continue online in a remote fashion. This caused an overnight increase in the use of tools housed within Glow (for example Microsoft Teams and Google Classroom) and this, therefore, influences the data that can be downloaded from these two administration consoles. It should, therefore, be borne in mind that there has been this external influence on this qualitative data and that the data should be interpreted taking this situation into account.

The data collection procedure must be clear and unambiguous as this reduces the risk of participants being unclear about what is expected of them and their contributions, therefore aiding the overall effectiveness of the enquiry (Kristjansson *et al.*, 2013).

The plan for data collection in stages one and three will involve the elements that will now be discussed. The group of teachers will be given an outline of the programme, the expectations of them and what is hoped to be gained by the study. Each participant will then be interviewed and the conversation audio-recorded and auto-transcribed via an app. Questions will initially be the same for each participant but then dependent on the subjects covered and suggested in each conversation, supplementary questions may differ. After this, in stage two, interventions will take place in various forms which reflect the role of a teacher leader. These interventions could take the form of direct teaching with the participant and their class to show a new piece of technology or a new way to record learning, one-to-one sessions with the participant to show new technology or how to use this in their classrooms with their classes, online or face-to-face CLPL sessions where the participant is invited along, as well as online and in-person support to troubleshoot issues and queries as they arise. Along with these interventions, and possibly during the same timeframe, the researcher will maintain an observation journal to note down attitudes towards these interventions and observe the participant teaching while using these new technologies in the classroom setting. In stage three, participants will then be invited to take part in a further interview that will take the same form as the first, including questions that will take the form of the participant being able to look back and reflect on the experiences with the researcher during the intervention stage and be able to assess the effectiveness of these interventions. Concerning the quantitative data, a different approach could be employed. As this data is continually being collected and stored, it can be interrogated at any point of the data collection phase. Consideration should be given to inspecting this data while the data collection with the participants is being undertaken. If any increase, or indeed decrease, is seen in the uptake and use of the digital tools discussed above, it may skew the interventions that are concurrently taking place.

It is therefore proposed that the quantitative data is only accessed at the end of the data collection phase and used to corroborate and validate the qualitative data that has already been collected - the partially mixed sequential dominant status design (P4) (Leech and Onwuegbuzie, 2007:271) where the qualitative data is given more weight - as mentioned earlier in this paper. Another important consideration is the timeframe of this data. At present, the usage data for Glow and the tools within it spans at least two years. It is therefore prudent to consider which date range to use when considering this data in the analysis phase. As this research proposal was originally to be carried out in early 2020, the data would have been used from when the interviews began with the participants and extended the date range until the end of the interventions and the subsequent round of interviews with the participants. However, as has already been discussed, the global coronavirus pandemic required all educational establishments to quickly find ways to deliver learning online, and in the local authority in which this study is proposed to be based, that delivery enlisted the use of Glow and Google tools. This doubled the usage rate of these tools overnight and as such, any increase in use as a result of the interventions discussed in this study would be hard to find within this increase. Data from before educational establishments closed could be used as a baseline, and data from the individual school could be analysed in a way in which the 'coronavirus effect' could be stripped out to gain a better picture of the intervention. Alternatively, the data could be used in its raw form, and the research could be positioned in a new setting taking into account the global coronavirus pandemic and include this backdrop in the interview questions as well as considering it when accessing the quantitative data. The interventions which have been discussed above actually happened of their own accord in the reality of the coronavirus lockdown, and this could also be discussed as part of the interview process. At the time of writing, the effect of the global pandemic on educational establishments is still changing, and as such, these considerations could and should be taken in to account when this research proposal moves to become an actual research project.

#### Data Analysis

The process of data reduction, an important aspect of qualitative data analysis according to Madey (1982) will be used to analyse the data collected in this study. Reducing the data does not mean that any data is reduced or overlooked, moreover it serves to refine the data to discover themes and trends without changing the data collected (Cohen *et al.*, 2018). Using this method caters for large amounts of data to be processed and it's true to say that this process happens in the subconscious as the researcher looks at and analyses the data collected (Miles and Huberman, 1994).

It is important that a clear coding framework is created so that the evidence trail can be tracked and the integrity of the study is maintained (Nowell et al., 2017). I will be able to seek out and highlight

key themes from the data reduction by employing a thematic analysis to reduce the data collected (Nowell et al., 2017). This kind of thematic analysis is accessible for inexperienced researchers as it does not involve in-depth theoretical knowledge (Braun and Clarke, 2006; King, 2004). Having a fundamental understanding of the 'theoretical knowingness' behind the strategy affords the researcher help to produce a good quality thematic analysis (Braun et al., 2018). A concept or mind map type display mechanism will be used to illustrate key themes emerging from these face-to-face interviews. These way of presenting these data will endeavour to be more visually appealing than if long passages of text were produced, allowing readers digest and analyse it effectively. It is true to say that when passages of text are too lengthy then key information can often be missed as the reader glosses over it (Miles and Huberman, 1994). Employing this kind of data presentation will allow successful and meaningful analysis of the qualitative data. The flexibility of thematic analysis is seen as advantageous, however it can also be deemed a negative as it can lead to inconsistencies and a lack of cohesion (Holloway and Todres, 2003). Even though conclusion drawing and verification – the author's 'concurrent flows' - is referred to as the final stage, it is right to suggest that these conclusions will also be drawn throughout the data gathering phases (Miles and Huberman, 1994:11). Multiple conclusions may be drawn together from both the qualitative and quantitative data bi-laterally to produce conclusions and possible recommendations for future research.

Regarding the numeric, quantitative data that will have been collected during this phase, as this is automatically collected by the two administrative portals, no data reduction will be necessary. A significant benefit of these portals is that they assimilate and present the data in simple tabular and graphical forms to fulfil various needs with minimal interventions. This means that the data can be read and analysis undertaken as graphs and data tables can be created with ease. As this data will be used to compare usage of the Glow and Google tools by pupils before and after the interventions in stage two, no statistical analysis will be needed. The online portals show bar graphs and raw data tables in which there are numerical counts of individual login sessions. The data comparison analysis here will simply be the number of individual login session before the interventions in stage two, compared with the number of individual login sessions after stage two interventions.

## **Ethical Considerations**

Ethical issues are faced in all research projects and therefore they 'should be conducted within an ethic of respect for the person, knowledge, democratic values, quality of educational research and academic freedom' (BERA, 2018). As a practitioner in Scotland, it is also important to note that the Scottish Educational Research Association (SERA) and General Teaching Council for Scotland Code of Professionalism and Conduct should be considered, for similar reasons, at all times.

The three most pertinent ethical issues that are faced in this extended research proposal will now be discussed.

#### 'Do no harm'

One of the first ethical issues to consider during research is to 'do no harm' (Locke et al., 2013; Vanclay, 2013). Labaree (2011:438) notes that educational researchers and practitioners have caused 'damage' to teaching and learning in the past due to their competing agendas, therefore, adopting the principle of 'do no harm' is vital. It is important to note that this particular research project will not involve children and young people. To further ensure this principle is adhered to, and following the BERA (2018) guidelines, participants will be allowed to withdraw from my research at any point and for any reason. In compliance with BERA's (2018) Guidelines for Ethical Research, the required Participant Information Sheet and Consent Form have been designed to ensure that participants fully understand the research procedures and that their participation is voluntary. It is very pertinent at this point to discuss the effects of the global coronavirus pandemic on the ethical considerations of this proposed research study. Following on from this principle of 'do no harm', the College of Social Sciences Management Group at the University of Glasgow ceased any research involving human subjects on 9th April 2020. During this time of anxiety and uncertainty for many people, the demands of participating in research projects either face-to-face or online may not be ethically appropriate or sound. It was also considered that for some time to come, access to participants might be difficult and unviable due to the changing nature of the pandemic and the effects this will have on personal circumstances. It is because of these pertinent and just ethical considerations the previously proposed research project could no longer continue. Demands on the teachers that were planning to participate in this study increased exponentially as they had to change their lesson delivery from face-to-face to online within a matter of days. Even now, at time of writing, it is unclear as to the model of lesson delivery in the next academic session, and with that in mind, it still may be a very important ethical consideration as to the participation of these teachers due to the unstable nature of the pandemic and the additional pressures that the teachers face daily. It is for these reasons that a full research project of this scale might not be able to be carried out until such a time when teachers are in a position to take stock of the situation and have sufficient time and personal space to participate effectively.

### Anonymity and Confidentiality

Anonymity and confidentiality during the research, analysis and reporting stages (Connolly, 2003) is another important ethical consideration to deal with in this type of research project. Protecting the anonymity and confidentiality of participants endeavours to prevent any negative outcomes of the intervention (Moosa, 2013: Clark, 2006). Research may be sensitive and if confidentiality is not assured then participants could potentially provide less truthful feedback and could withdraw from the process. This consideration is very important in a study such as this. The participants are already known to the researcher, and they will already have had some interactions in the past along the same lines as the planned interventions as part of the research project. Also, the researcher holds a position within the local authority which differs slightly from the participants, a role in which certain confidences are held and a role where details of what is happening in schools could be shared. It is for this reason that the researcher will be explicit to make clear that nothing that happens in the course of the research project will in any way prejudice or affect the professional working relationship that the researcher has with any of the participants. A process of anonymising data will also be employed by using a coding system and pseudonyms to protect the participant's identities. It is interesting to note some contradiction regarding the unwavering need to anonymise participants in research findings, as Wiles *et al.*, (2004) suggests regarding the study they carried out. The authors of that study discovered that some participants wanted to be mentioned by name as they found this to be 'empowering' (Moosa, 2013:487). This, although understandable in some circumstances, would not align itself with the educational research I wish to undertake for the reasons stated above.

There is a slight risk that the sample size of the group being studied becomes too small. This is because the chosen primary school is small, employing few teachers. This risk has the potential to make the results unreliable and invalid. I will ensure that all the participants are comfortable in being involved in the study at every stage, especially during the interventions. In spite of the planned digital learning sessions, there could be a possibility that some teachers lack confidence in using digital technology. This 'lack of confidence could lead to variances in the delivery' (Prestridge, 2012). In order to guard against this, I plan to 'team-teach' with the participating staff, in order to ensure a consistent delivery and explanation of the intervention, as well as to ensure consistency during the data-gathering phase.

#### Handling and Storage of Data

In terms of the handling and storage of data gathered as part of this proposed study, certain specific considerations should be addressed. Locke *et al.*, (2013) suggest that this has always been a key ethical consideration in research. The introduction of the General Data Protection Regulation (2018) has made this part of research an even more important issue. All data gathered during the course of this study will be stored in a secure location and later disposed of using appropriate methods. This disposal will not include that data gathered from the Glow and Google online portals, as these are accessible to others apart from the researcher. This disposal of information will be in line with BERA and SERA guidelines. The learning journal, along with notes, transcripts and audio recordings of face-to-face interviews and qualitative data from the two administration portals will be kept in a secure, locked

location if printed, or saved in a secure, password-protected environment if digital in nature. Any pupil or staff reference will be anonymous and will refer to them as a code with the key being destroyed. This project lies within the improvement plan for the Education Department of the relevant local authority, and therefore the headteacher of the school on which I intend to focus, as well as the council's Quality Improvement Officer in charge of digital learning may require access to the data for the purposes of further improvement of the use of digital technologies within the local authority.

## **Project Management**

In this section, there will be a discussion around the possible timeframes of this research project, and also around any risks that are associated with the project and this timeframe. As the project now sits within the background of the global coronavirus pandemic, these timeframes are likely to need to be revised and changed, perhaps at short notice.

It is envisaged that the data collection and intervention phase of this project should last around five to seven weeks, starring with the initial interviews of participants, then four weeks of intervention time, followed by the follow-up interviews in the last week. This is however reliant on there being agreement from an ethical point of view that face-to-face or online interviewing of human subjects can resume. It is also dependent on the participants in the school being able, willing and have the time for, the interviews themselves as well as the following interventions. It may well be the case that the educational landscape is still changing and as such, there may be no room for a meaningful research window to take place. To mitigate this risk, it is proposed that this research project turns in to more of a retrospective project which will take place after the pandemic is over and 'normal' ways of learning and teaching resume. Interviews would then take the form of a look back at the effects of the pandemic and the role of teacher leadership in terms of digital technology use. An online questionnaire to a wider audience of teaching staff could also be used to widen the pool of participants should the original set of participants be unable to contribute. This research project is not reliant on specific members of staff, moreover, it is only applicable to teaching staff in a certain primary school. There is the potential for teachers to move schools but this is not seen to be a risk to this study. Access to digital technologies or failures with digital technologies are an associated risk, as the perceptions of the confidence and competence of teaching staff will be coloured by their experiences. If a particular technology isn't functioning as expected in the intervention phase, steps will be taken by the researcher to enable that technology to be fixed, and the intervention will pause until this is completed. This is to ensure that the participants' experience of the technology is not clouded by the fact that it was not functioning as expected.

# **Conclusions and Recommendations**

The importance of using a variety of digital technologies in learning and teaching activities in the classroom is well documented, and supported by the international, national and local policies and strategies for digital technology integration. To support this, local authorities have developed strategies and programmes to enable this use of digital technologies by improving teacher competence in digital tools. The notion of 'teacher leadership' has played an important part in these strategies, enabling skilled practitioners to coach and guide less experienced colleagues. As has been explained in detail in this paper, this study proposes to investigate the effects of this leadership on the digital technology competence of primary school teachers.

The global coronavirus pandemic has shaped and affected all aspects of our lives, notwithstanding this research proposal. It was envisaged that this paper would have discussed the findings of the research which, unfortunately, is now only proposed and hypothetical for reasons already discussed. The global pandemic has increased the focus on the use of digital technology in teaching and learning, however, and therefore it could be said that the events of school closures and a move to lesson delivery online have served to focus attention on these methods. Along with that focus, there has been a real and sustained need for teachers and education practitioners to engage with these technologies, many of which they may not have used before. This has caused an increased demand for training, coaching sessions and online CLPL events so that teachers feel competent and confident in using these technologies to continue the education of young people. This has led to many forms of teacher leadership being developed on the fly, in an ad-hoc way. Many of these situations and roles are still being modelled as the pandemic progresses and more information and guidance is published by governments as to how learning and teaching can continue amid this health crisis.

Should this research proposal move to be a research project, it will inevitably still have the backdrop of the coronavirus pandemic. Teacher leadership will continue to be a feature of how teachers are supported and coached through this 'new normal'. There would be a benefit to this research being carried out to investigate and to understand more about teacher leadership in this context, and how it links to teacher professional learning. This would contribute to the body of literature around this topic, and break new ground as, at present, there is a gap in the research surrounding the move to online, remote learning. On a personal note, it is hoped that this proposal can be carried forward and the data collected and analysed so that it can contribute to the understanding of teacher leadership in the area of digital technology competence.

## Note

It should be noted that this paper was originally designed as an empirical dissertation describing how the research question was designed, how the research was undertaken and what the results of this research showed.

It had to change focus, and become an extended research proposal dissertation, as the unfolding situation surrounding the global coronavirus pandemic made data-gathering with human subjects impossible.

With this in mind, and for reasons of clarity and transparency around plagiarism, certain sections of this extended research proposal dissertation will mirror that of the original, shorter proposal that had already been submitted by the author to the University of Glasgow as part of this Masters course of study before the global coronavirus pandemic took hold. These sections have been expanded upon in this extended research proposal dissertation.

## List of References

- Anderson, K.D. (2004), "The nature of teacher leadership in schools as reciprocal influences between teacher leaders and principals", School Effectiveness and School Improvement, Vol. 15 No. 1, pp. 97-113.
- Bekhet, A., Zauszniewski, J. and Harvey, K.H (2012) 'Methodological triangulation: an approach to understanding data.' Nurse Researcher, 20(2): pp. 40-43.
- BERA. (2018[online]). Ethical Guidelines for Educational Research. Available: https://www.bera.ac.uk/publication/ethical-guidelines-for-educational-research-2018-online Last accessed 18/01/20.
- Beycioglu, K., and Kandukci, Y. (2014). Principal leadership and organizational change in schools: A cross-cultural perspective. Journal of Organisational Change Management, 27(3).
- Bingimlas, K. A. (2009). 'Barriers to the Successful Integration of ICT in Teaching and Learning Environments: A review of the Literature.' Eurasia Journal of Mathematics, Science and Technology Education. 5 (3), pp. 235-245.
- Bisman, J. (2011). 'Engaged Pedagogy: A Study of the Use of Reflective Journals in Accounting Education'. Assessment and Evaluation in Higher Education. 36 (3), pp. 315-330.
- Boudah, D. J. (2011). 'Conducting Educational Research: Guide To Completing a Major Project'. Thousand Oaks: Sage. pp. 126-151.
- Bozkurt, A. and Sharma, R. C. (2020) Emergency remote teaching in a time of global crisis due to Coronavirus pandemic. Asian Journal of Distance Education. [Online] Vol.15 (1), p.2020. Available: http://www.asianjde.org [Accessed 14 Jun 2020].
- Braun, V and Clarke, V. (2013). 'Successful Qualitative Research'. A Practical Guide for Beginners. London: Sage. pp. 230-285.
- Braun, V., and Clarke V. (2006). 'Using Thematic Analysis in Psychology'. Qualitative Research in Psychology. 3 (2), pp. 77-101.
- Braun, V., Clarke, V., Hayfield, N. and Terry, G. (2018). Thematic Analysis. Handbook of research methods in health social sciences. London: Sage pp.1-18.
- Bryk, A. S., and Schneider, B. (2003) Trust in Schools. A Core Resource for Improvement. New York: Russell Sage Foundation.
- Bush, T. (2003) Theories of Educational Leadership and Management. 3rd ed. London: Sage.
- Cachia, R. et al., 2010. Creative Learning and Innovative Teaching: Final Report on the Study on Creativity and Innovation in Education in the EU Member States. Luxembourg: Publications Office of the European Union.
- Caelli, K., Ray, L. and Mill, J. (2003). "Clear as Mud": Toward Greater Clarity in Generic Qualitative

Research'. International Journal of Qualitative Methods. 2 (2), pp. 1–13.

- Candy, P.C. (1989). 'Constructivism and the Study of Self-Direction in Adult Learning'. Studies in the Education of Adults. 21 (2), pp. 95-116.
- Carroll, M. (2018). Lecture Notes: 'Research Paradigms. Teacher Leadership 3'. The University of Glasgow. 1 (1), pp.1-6.
- Carroll, M. and McCulloch, M. (2014) 'The Context for Primary Education in the Twenty-First Century'. In: Carroll, M. and McCulloch, M. Understanding Teaching and Learning in Primary Education. London: SAGE Publications Ltd. pp. 1-12.
- Cedefop, 2016. The great divide: Digitalisation and digital skill gaps in the EU workforce, #ESJsurvey Insights, No 9. [pdf] Available at: http://www.cedefop.europa.eu/files/esj\_insight\_9\_digital\_skills\_final.p df Thessaloniki: Cedefop. Last accessed 14/07/20.
- Choi, M., Cristol, D., Gimbert, B. (2018). "Teachers as digital citizens: The influence of individual backgrounds, internet use and psychological characteristics on teachers' levels of digital citizenship'. Computers and Education. 121 (1), pp.143-161.
- Clark, A. (2006). 'Anonymising Research Data. Working Paper Series'. ESRC National Centre for Research Methods. 7 (6), pp. 4-8.
- Clarke, E and Visser, J. (2018) 'Pragmatic Research Methodology in Education: Possibilities and Pitfalls'. International Journal of Research and Method in Education. 8 (11), pp. 1-16
- Cohen, L., Manion, L., and Morrison, K (2018). Research Methods in Education. 8th ed. London: Routledge.
- Collinson, V. (2012) 'Leading by Learning, Learning by Leading'. Professional Development in Education, 38(2): 247-266.
- Connolly, P. (2003). Ethical Principles for Researching Vulnerable Groups. Available: http://paulconnolly.net/publications/ofmdfm\_ethics\_2003.pdf. Last accessed 12/07/20.
- Cooper, K.S., Stanulis, R.N., Brondyk, S.K., Hamilton, E.R., Macaluso, M. and Meier, J.A. (2016), "The teacher leadership process: attempting change within embedded systems". Journal of Educational Change, Vol. 17 No. 1, pp. 85-113.
- Creswell, J.W. and Creswell, J.D. (2017). Research design: Qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods approaches. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Crowther, F., Kaagan, S, S., Ferguson, M., and Hann, L. (2002). Developing teacher leaders: How teacher leadership enhances school success. Thousand Oaks, CA: Corwin Press.
- Deschamps, J.P. (2005). 'Different Leadership Skills for Different Innovation Strategies'. Strategy and Leadership. 33(5): 31-38.

- Dewey, J. (1933). How we think: A restatement of the relation of reflective thinking to the educative process. Boston, New York.
- Digital Scotland, (2019). Scotland's Digital Technologies: Summary Report 2019. [Online] Available at: https://www.skillsdevelopmentscotland.co.uk/media/46258/scotlands-digital-technologiessummary-report.pdf. Last accessed 14/07/2020.
- Donaldson, G. (2011). Teaching Scotland's Future: Report for a Review of Teacher Education in Scotland. Edinburgh: Scottish Government.
- Drouin, M., Stewart, J. and Gorder, K. V. (2015). 'Using Methodological Triangulation to Examine the Effectiveness of a Mentoring Program for Online Instructors.' Distance Education. 36 (3), pp. 400-418.
- Dudovskiy, J., (2016). The Ultimate Guide to Writing a Dissertation in Business Studies: A Step-By-Step Assistance. Available at: http://research-methodology.net/about-us/ebook/. Last accessed 10/07/20.
- Durden, T. (2011) 'Making it Happen: Building Positive Relationships with Children'. The Board of Regents of the University of Nebraska. 1 (HEF601), pp. 1-10.
- East Renfrewshire Council (2018) East Renfrewshire Education Department Digital Learning and Teaching Strategy. (internal document): Glasgow.
- Edmonstone, J. (2014). 'On The Nature of Problems in Action Learning'. Action Learning: Research and Practice. 11(1), pp. 25-41.
- Elton-Chalcraft, S., Hansen, A., and Twiselton, S (2008). Doing Classroom Research. A Step-By-Step Guide for Student Teachers. Maidenhead: Open University Press.
- European Commission, (2014). The International Computer and Information Literacy Study (ICILS): Main findings and implications for education policies in Europe. Luxembourg: Publications Office of the European Union.
- European Commission, (2017). Commission staff working document 'Europe's Digital Progress Report 2017'. SWD (2017) 160 final [pdf] https://ec.europa.eu/transparency/regdoc/rep/10102/2017/EN/SWD- 2017-160-F1-EN-MAIN-PART-18.PDF. Last accessed 11/07/2020.
- Fernandez, A. A. and Shaw, G. P. (2020). Academic Leadership in a Time of Crisis: The Coronavirus and COVID-19 [Online]. Journal of Leadership Studies. Wiley-Blackwell. Available: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/epdf/10.1002/jls.21684. Last accessed 14 Jun 2020.
- Ferrari, A., (2013). DIGCOMP: A Framework for Developing and Understanding Digital Competence in Europe. Y. Punie and B. N. Brečko, eds. Luxembourg: Publications Office of the European Union.
   Fitzgerald, T. and Gunter, H.M. (2008) 'Contesting the Orthodoxy of Teacher Leadership'. International

Journal of Leadership in Education, 11(4): 331-340.

Flick, U. (2012) Managing Quality in Qualitative Research. London: Sage.

- Forlin, C. and Cooper, P. (2013). 'Student Behaviour and Emotional Challenges for Teachers and Parents in Hong Kong'. British Journal of Special Education. 40(2): 58-64.
- Frees, E. W., and Miller, R. B. (1998). 'Designing Effective Graphs'. North American Actuarial Journal. 2(2), pp. 53-70.
- Frost, D. (2012). From professional development to system change: Teacher leadership and innovation. Professional Development in Education. 38(1), pp. 205–227.
- General Teaching Council Scotland (2012). The Standards for Registration: mandatory requirements for Registration with the GTCS [Online]. Available: http://www.gtcs.org.uk/web/Files/thestandards/standards-for-registration-1212.pdf. Last accessed 30 Jun 2020.
- Gilster, P. (1997). Digital Literacy. New York: Wiley.
- Glover, I., Hepplestone, S., Parkin, H., Rodger, H., and Irwin, B. (2016). Pedagogy first: Realising technology-enhanced learning by focusing on teaching practice. British Journal of Educational Technology. 47(5), pp. 993–1002.
- Groundwater-Smith, S. and Dadds, M. (2004). 'Critical Practitioner Inquiry: Towards Responsible Professional Communities of Practice'. In: Day, C. and Sachs, J, International Handbook on the Continuing Professional Development of Teachers. Berkshire: Open University Press. pp. 238-264.
- Groundwater-Smith, S. and Mockler, N. (2007) Ethics in practitioner research: an issue of quality, Research Papers in Education. 22(2), pp. 199-211.
- GTCS (2012). The Standard for Career-Long Professional Learning: supporting the development of teacher professional learning [Online]. Available: http://www.gtcs.org.uk/web/files/the-standards/standard-for-career-long-professional-learning-1212.pdf. Last accessed 30 Jun 2020.
- Guba, E.G. and Lincoln, Y.S. (2005) Paradigmatic Controversies, Contradictions, and Emerging Confluences. In: Denzin, N.K. and Lincoln, Y.S., Eds., The Sage Handbook of Qualitative Research, 3rd Edition. Thousand Oaks: Sage. pp. 191-215.
- Gümüş, S., Bellibas, M. S., Esen, M., & Gumus, E. (2018). A systematic review of studies on leadership models in educational research from 1980 to 2014. Educational Management Administration & Leadership 46(1), 25–48
- Hallinger, P. and Kulophas, D. (2019). Professional Development in Education: The evolving knowledge base on leadership and teacher professional learning: a bibliometric analysis of the literature, 1960-2018. [Online]. Available:

https://www.tandfonline.com/action/journalInformation?journalCode=rjie20. Last accessed 7

Jul 2020.

Hammersley, M. and Atkinson, P., (2007). Ethnography: Principles in practice. London, Routledge.

- Harris, A. (2005). 'Teacher Leadership: More than Just a Feel-Good Factor?' Leadership and Policy in Schools, 4(3): pp. 201-219.
- Harris, A., Jones, M. and Huffman, J. (2017). Teachers Leading Educational Reform: The Power of Professional Learning Communities, London: Routledge.
- Harrison, J. W., and Lembeck, E. (1996). Emergent teacher leaders. In G. Moller and M. Katzenmeyer (Eds.), Every teacher as a leader: Realizing the potential of teacher leadership (pp. 101-116). San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.
- Hart, S. (2000). Thinking Through Teaching: A Framework for Enhancing Participation and Learning. London: David Fulton Publishing.
- Hastings, S. L. (2012) Triangulation. In: Encyclopedia of Research Design. [Online]. Available: https://dx.doi.org/10.4135/9781412961288. Last accessed 8 Jul 2020.
- Hattie, J. (2012). 'Mind Frames of Teachers, School Leaders and Systems'. In: Hattie, J: Visible Learning for Teachers. Maximising Impact on Learning. Oxon: Routledge. pp. 71-73, 147-149.
- Hattie, J. (2017). 'It's All About Impact'. In: GTCS. Teaching Scotland. 72 (1), pp. 23-25.
- Heifetz, R., and Laurie, D. (2001). The work of leadership. Harvard Business Review. [Online] https://hbr.org/2001/12/the-work-of-leadership. Last accessed 08/07/2020.
- Hemenway, M. V. (2000). 'What effect does classroom use of the Internet have on the teacher-student relationship?' NASSP Bulletin. 84 (615), pp. 114.119.
- Higgins, S., Xiao, Z. and Katsipataki, M. (2012) The Impact of Digital Technology on Learning: A Summary for the Education Endowment Foundation Full Report. [Online]. Available at https://educationendowmentfoundation.org.uk/evidence-summaries/evidencereviews/digital-technology/ Last accessed 14/07/2020.
- Holloway, I. and Todres, L. (2003) 'The Status of Method: Flexibility, Consistency and Coherence', Qualitative Research, 3(3), pp. 345–357.
- Hopkins, D. (2008) A Teacher's Guide to Classroom Research. 4th ed. Berkshire: Open University Press. pp. 37-74.
- Islam, S., and Grönlund, Å. (2016). An international literature review of 1:1 computing in schools. Journal of Educational Change, 17(2), pp.191–222.
- Janssen, J., Stoyanov, S., Ferrari, A., Punie, Y., Pannekeet, K., and Sloep, P. (2013). Experts' views on digital competence: Commonalities and differences. Computers and Education, 68, pp.473–481.
- Johnson, R.B. and Onwuegbuzie, A.J. (2004). Mixed methods research: A research paradigm whose time has come. Educational researcher, 33(7), pp.14-26.

- Johnson, S. M. (1989). Schoolwork and its reform. In J. Hannaway and R. Crowson (Eds.). The politics of reforming school administration. 1989 Yearbook of the Politics of Education Association. New York: Falmer Press. pp. 95-112
- Kajitani, A. (2015). 'How Do You Know Whether You're A Teacher Leader?'. Kappa Delta Pi Record. 51(3): 121-125.
- Katzenmeyer, M. and Moller, G. (2001). Awakening the Sleeping Giant. Helping Teachers Develop as Leaders. Thousand Oaks, CA: Corwin. pp.35-48
- Kelly, F. (2016) Developing Teacher Leadership. Outcomes and Implications from the Scottish College for Educational Leadership's Teacher Leadership Engagement. Scotland: Scottish College for Educational Leadership.

Kerrigan, K. (2018). 'Leadership and Management'. In: Lecture Notes 'Teacher Leadership'.

- Kessels, J. W. M. (2012). Leiderschapspraktijken in een professionele ruimte [Leadership practices in a professional space]. Heerlen: Open Universiteit.
- King, N. (2004). 'Using Templates in the Thematic Analysis of Text'. In: Cassel, C. and Simon, G. Essential
  Guide to Qualitative Methods in Organizational Research. Huddersfield: University of
  Huddersfield. pp. 257-270.
- Kivunja, C. and Kuyini, A.B. (2017). 'Understanding and Applying Research Paradigms in Educational Contexts'. International Journal of Higher Education. 6 (5), pp. 26-41.
- Kock, N., Avison, D. and Malaurent, J. (2017). 'Positivist Information Systems Action Research: Methodological Issues'. Journal of Management Information Systems. 34 (3), pp. 754-767.
- Koehler, M. J., and Mishra, P. (2009). What is technological pedagogical content knowledge? Contemporary Issues in technology and Teacher Education, 9(1), pp.60–70.
- Kristjansson, A.L., Sigfusson, J., Sigfusdottir, I.D. and Allegrante, J.P. (2013). 'Data Collection Procedures for School-based Surveys among Adolescents: The Youth in Europe Study'. Journal of School Health. 83 (9), pp.662-667.

Krumsvik, R.J. (2007). Skulen og den digitale læringsrevolusjonen. Oslo: Universitetsforlaget.

- Kukull, W.A. and Ganguli, M. (2012). 'Generalizability: The trees, The Forest, And The Low-Hanging Fruit'. Neurology. 78 (23), pp. 1886-1891.
- Kyriacou, C (1991). Essential Teaching Skills. Oxford: Basil Blackwell Ltd.
- Labaree, D.F. (2011). 'Do No Harm'. Teacher Education and Practice. 24 (4), pp. 437-439.
- Lansing, J. B., Ginsburg, G. P. and Braaten, K. (1961) An Investigation of Response Error. Studies in Consumer Savings, no. 2. Urbana IL: University of Illinois Bureau of Economic and Business Research.
- Leech, N.L. and Onwuegbuzie, A.J. (2007). A typology of mixed methods research designs. Quality and

Quantity, 43(1), pp.265-275.

- Lemon, N. and Garvis, S. (2016) Pre-service teacher self-efficacy in digital technology. Teachers and Teaching: Theory and Practice. Vol.22 (3), pp.387–408.
- Locke, T., Alcorn, N. and O'Neill, J. (2013). 'Ethical Issues in Collaborative Action Research'. Educational Action Research. 21 (1), pp. 107-123.
- MacBeath, J. and Mortimore, P. (2001) 'School Effectiveness and Improvement: The Story so Far.' In: J. MacBeath and P. Mortimore Improving School Effectiveness. Buckingham: Open University Press. pp. 1-21.
- Madey, D. L. (1982). 'Some Benefits of Integrating Qualitative and Quantitative Methods in Program Evaluation, With Some Illustrations'. Educational Evaluation and Policy Analysis. 4 (2), pp. 223– 236.
- Mannila, L., Nordén, L.-Å. and Pears, A. (2018) Digital Competence, Teacher Self-Efficacy and Training Needs. Proceedings of the 2018 ACM Conference on International Computing Education Research. [Online] pp.78–85. Available: https://dl.acm.org/doi/10.1145/3230977.3230993. Last accessed 10/07/2020.
- Martin, M. (2011) 'Professional learning communities.' In: M. McMahon, C. Forde and M. Martin (Eds) Contemporary issues in learning and teaching. London: SAGE. pp. 142-152.
- Marzano, R. J., Waters, T. and McNulty, B. A. (2005). School leadership that works: From research to results. Alexandria, VA: Association for Supervision and Curriculum Development.
- Mason, J. (2006). 'Mixing Methods in a Qualitatively Driven way'. Qualitative Research. 6 (1), pp. 9– 25.
- Mayall, B. (2010). Children's lives outside school and their educational impact, in Alexander, R., Doddington, C., Gray, J., Hargreaves, L., and Kershner, R. (eds) The Cambridge Primary Review Research Surveys. London: Routledge, pp 49-82.
- McCartney, W.W. and Campbell, C.R. (2006) 'Leadership, Management, and Derailment: A Model of Individual Success and Failure'. Participation and Empowerment: An International Journal. 27 (3): 190-202.
- McCulloch, M. (2014) 'Social and Emotional Contexts for Learning'. In: Carroll, M. and McCulloch, M., Understanding Teaching and Learning in Primary Education. London: SAGE Publications Ltd. pp. 72-89.
- McDonough, J. and McDonough, S. (1997). Research Methods for English Language Teachers. London: Edward Arnold.
- McLean, A. (2003). The Motivated School. London: Paul Chapman Publishing.
- Menter, I., Elliot, D., Hulme, M., Lewin, J., and Lowden, K. (2011). A Guide to Practitioner Research in

Education. London: SAGE.

- Merchant, G. (2015) 'Moving with the times: how mobile digital literacies are changing childhood' inV. Duckworth and G. Ade-Ojo (eds.) Landscapes of Specific Literacies in Contemporary Society:Exploring a social model of literacy. London: Routledge, pp.103-116.
- Mertens, D.M., (2014). Research and evaluation in education and psychology: Integrating diversity with quantitative, qualitative, and mixed methods. London: SAGE.
- Miles, M. and Huberman, M. (1994). 'Introduction'. In: Introduction in Qualitative Analysis: An Extended Sourcebook. 2nd ed. London: Sage. pp. 1-15.
- Moltudal, S. (2019). The Relationship between Teachers' Perceived Classroom Management Abilities and Their Professional Digital Competence. Designs for Learning, 11(1), 80–98.
- Moosa, D. (2013). 'Challenges to Anonymity and Representation in Educational Qualitative Research in a Small Community: A Reflection on my Research Journey'. Compare: A Journal of Comparative and International Education. 43 (4), pp. 483-495.
- Morgan, D. L. (2014). 'Pragmatism as a Paradigm for Social Research.' Qualitative Inquiry. 20 (8), pp. 25-54.
- Muijs, D. and Harris, A. (2007) 'Teacher leadership in action.' Educational Management and Administration, 35(1): 111-134.

Murphy, J (2005). Connecting Teacher Leadership and School Improvement. California: Corwin Press.

- Murray, L. (1992). 'What is Practitioner Based Enquiry?' British Journal of In-Service Education. 18 (3), pp. 191-196
- Newby, P. (2014). Research Methods for Education. 2nd ed. Abingdon and New York: Routledge.
- Nguyen, D. and Ng, D. (2020) Teacher collaboration for change: sharing, improving, and spreading. Professional Development in Education. https://doi.org/10.1080/19415257.2020.1787206
- Nguyen, D., Harris, A. and Ng, D. (2019) A review of the empirical research on teacher leadership (2003–2017): Evidence, patterns and implications. Journal of Educational Administration. 58 (1), pp.60-80.
- Noble, H., Smith, J. (2015). 'Issues of validity and reliability in qualitative research'. Evidence-Based Nursing. 18 (2). pp. 34-35.
- Northouse, P.G. (2015) Introduction to Leadership: Concepts and Practice. Thousand Oaks, California: Sage.
- Nowell, S. L., Norris, J. M., White, D. E., and Moules, N. J. (2017). 'Thematic Analysis: Striving To Meet the Trustworthiness Criteria'. International Journal of Qualitative Methods. 5 (3), pp. 40-61.
- OECD, (2015). Students, Computers and Learning: Making the Connection. PISA. [Online] Available at: http://dx.doi.org/10.1787/9789264239555-en. Last accessed 09/07/2020.

- Ogawa, R.T., and Bossert, S.T. (1995). Leadership as an organisational quality. Educational Administration Quarterly, 31(2), pp. 224-243.
- Olejnik, S. F. (1984). 'Planning Educational Research.' The Journal of Experimental Education, 53 (1), pp. 40-48.
- Onwuegbuzie, A. J., and Leech, N.L. (2005). 'On Becoming a Pragmatic Researcher: The Importance of Combining Quantitative and Qualitative Research Methodologies'. International Journal of Social Research Methodology. 8 (5), pp. 375–387.
- Oon, J., Chew, A. and Andrews, D. (2010) Enabling teachers to become pedagogical leaders: case studies of two IDEAS schools in Singapore and Australia. Educ Res Policy Prac. 9(1), pp.59–74.
- Pansiri, J. (2005). 'Pragmatism: A Methodological Approach to Researching Strategic Alliances in Tourism'. Tourism and Hospitality Planning and Development. 2 (3), pp. 191–206.
- Pettersson, F. (2018). Digitally Competent School Organizations Developing Supportive Organizational Infrastructures. Seminar.net International journal of media, technology and lifelong learning. 14 (2), pp.132-143.
- Pollard, A. (2008) Reflective Teaching. 3rd ed. London: Continuum International Publishing Group.
- Prensky, M. (2001) Digital Native, Digital Immigrant Part 1. On the Horizon. 9(5), pp.1–6.
- Prestridge, S. (2012). 'The Beliefs behind the Teacher That Influences Their ICT Practices'. Computers and Education. 58 (1), pp. 449-458.
- Redecker, C., 2017. European Framework for the Digital Competence of Educators: DigCompEdu. Luxembourg: Publications Office of the European Union.
- Richards, J. C. (1991) 'Towards Reflective Teaching'. The Teacher Training Journal. 5 (3):33-38.
- Sandelowski, M. (1995). 'Sample size in qualitative research'. Research in nursing and health, 18(2), pp.179-183.
- Scales, P. (2013) 'The Reflective Teacher'. In: Scales, P., Teaching In The Lifelong Learning Sector. 2nd ed. England: The McGraw Hill Companies. pp. 19-37.

Schön, D.A. (1984). 'The Reflective Practitioner: How Professionals Think in Action'. USA: Basic Books Schwab, K., (2016). The Fourth Industrial Revolution. New York: Crown Business.

Scottish Government (2006). Curriculum for Excellence: Experiences and outcomes [Online]. Available at: https://education.gov.scot/Documents/All-experiencesoutcomes18.pdf. Last accessed 30

Jun 2020.

Scottish Government (2016). Enhancing Learning and Teaching through the Use of Digital Technology:

A digital learning and teaching strategy for Scotland. Available: https://www.gov.scot/publications/enhancing-learning-teaching-through-use-digitaltechnology/. Last accessed 08/07/2020.

- SELFIE | Education and Training. (2020) [Online]. Available: https://ec.europa.eu/education/schoolsgo-digital\_en. Last accessed 30/07/20.
- Selinger, M. (2001) Learning information and communications technology skills and the subject context of the learning. Journal of Information Technology for Teacher Education. 10 (1), pp.1–2.
- SERA. (2005). Ethical Guidelines for Educational Research. Available: https://www.sera.ac.uk/wpcontent/uploads/sites/13/2018/08/SERA-Ethical-GuidelinesWeb.pdf. Last accessed 11/07/2019

Sharp, J (2012). Success with Your Education Research Project. 2nd ed. London: Sage.

Silverman, D. (1993) Interpreting Qualitative Data. London: Sage.

Simkins, T. (2005) Leadership in Education. London: Sage.

- Smeets, K. and Ponte, P. (2009) Action research and teacher leadership. Professional Development in Education. 35 (2), pp.175–193.
- Smith, P.S., Hayes, M.L. and Lyons, K.M. (2017), "The ecology of instructional teacher leadership", The Journal of Mathematical Behavior. 46 (1) pp. 267-288.
- Snoek, M., Enthoven, M., Kessels, J. and Volman, M. (2017), "Increasing the impact of a master's programme on teacher leadership and school development by means of boundary crossing", International Journal of Leadership in Education, 20 (1), pp. 26-56

Spillane, J.P. (2005). 'Distributed Leadership'. The Educational Forum. 69 (2), pp. 143-150.

- Stoll, L. (2003). In: Groundwater-Smith, S. and Dadds, M. (2004). 'Critical Practitioner Inquiry: Towards Responsible Professional Communities of Practice'. In: Day, C. and Sachs, J International Handbook on the Continuing Professional Development of Teachers. Berkshire: Open University Press. pp. 238-264.
- Stoll, L., Bolam, R., McMahon, A., Wallace, M. and Thomas, S. (2006). Professional Learning Communities: A Review of the Literature. Journal of Educational Change. 7 (4), pp. 221- 258.
- Tashakkori, A and Teddlie, C. (2003). Handbook of Mixed Methods in Social and Behavioral Research, Sage, California.
- Thanh, N. C. and Thanh, T. T. L. (2015). 'The Interconnection between Interpretivist Paradigm and Qualitative Methods in Education'. American Journal of Educational Science. 1 (2), pp. 24-27.

UNESCO (2020). COVID-19 education response. [Online] Available at: https://en.unesco.org/covid19/educationresponse/globalcoalition. Last accessed 07/07/2020.

UNICEF (2020). UNICEF and Microsoft launch global learning platform to help address COVID-19 education crisis. [Online] Available at: https://www.unicef.org/press-releases/unicef-andmicrosoft-launch-global-learning-platform-help-address-covid-19-education. Last accessed 07/07/2020.

- Vanclay, F., Baines, J.T., and Taylor, C.N. (2013). 'Principles for Ethical Research Involving Humans: Ethical Professional Practice in Impact Assessment Part I'. Impact Assessment and Project Appraisal. 31 (4), pp.243-253.
- Wahyuni, D. (2012). 'The Research Design Maze: Understanding Paradigms, Cases, Methods and Methodologies'. Journal of Applied Management Accounting Research. 10 (1), pp. 69–80.
- Wasley, P.A. (1991). Teachers Who Lead: The Rhetoric of Reform and the Realities of Practice. New York: Teachers College Press.
- Weller, M. (2020). 25 Years of Ed Tech. Edmonton, Canada: AU Press
- Wiles, R., Charles, V., Crow, G. and Heath, S. (2006). 'Researching Researchers: Lessons for Research Ethics'. Qualitative Research. 6 (3), pp. 283 - 299.
- Willis, J.W (2007), Foundations of qualitative research: interpretive and critical approaches. Thousand Oaks: SAGE.
- Xinping, Z. (2002). 'Interpretivist Research, Positivist Research and Field Research'. Chinese Education and Society. 35 (2), pp. 39-46
- Yardley, L. (2008). Demonstrating Validity in Qualitative Psychology. In J. A. Smith (Ed.), Qualitative Psychology: A Practical Guide to Research Methods. London: Sage.
- York-Barr, J. and Duke, K. (2004) What Do We Know About Teacher Leadership? Findings from Two Decades of Scholarship. Review of Educational Research, 74(3): 255-316.
- Yost, D. S., Vogel, R. and Liang, L. L. (2009). Embedded teacher leadership: Support for a site-based model of professional development. International Journal of Leadership in Education. 12 (4), pp.409–433.